O 0 3 O W B W NN =

N NN N N N N N N e e e e e e e
0O I N »n A W NN = O VO 0O N O BB~ WD = O

Case 2:21-cv-01507-SRB Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 1 of 38

DANIEL O. BLAU (Cal. Bar No. 305008)
Email: blaud sec.ﬁ%v

JASMINE M. STARR (Cal. Bar No. 259473)
Email: starrja@sec.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff o
Securities and Exchange Commission
Michele Wein Layne, Regional Director
Alka N. Patel, Associate Regional Director
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444°S. Flower Street, Suite 900

Los Angeles, California 90071
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Facsimile: (213) 443-1904

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Securities and Exchange Commission, Case No.
Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT

VS.

Cavco Industries, Inc.; Joseph
Stegmayer; and Daniel Urness,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) alleges:
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20 and
22 of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t, 77v, and
Sections 21(d)(1), 21(d)(3)(A), 21(e) and 27(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(1), 78u(d)(3)(A), 78u(e) & 78aa(a).

2. Defendants have, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a

national securities exchange in connection with the transactions, acts, practices and
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courses of business alleged in this complaint.

3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a), and Section 27(a) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78aa(a), because certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of
conduct constituting violations of the federal securities laws occurred within this
district. In addition, venue is proper in this district because Defendants Cavco
Industries, Inc., Joseph Stegmayer, and Daniel Urness reside in this district.

SUMMARY

4. This matter involves insider trading by Cavco Industries, Inc.
(“Cavco”) and by its former chief executive officer (“CEQ”), Joseph Stegmayer
(“Stegmayer”). Cavco bought shares of Skyline Corp. (“Skyline) at Stegmayer’s
direction while Skyline was in merger talks with Cavco and other potential
acquirers. In the course of Cavco and Skyline’s merger discussions, Stegmayer
signed a non-disclosure agreement with Skyline on behalf of Cavco and received
material non-public information about Skyline. Cavco then traded in Skyline
shares on the basis of this non-public information. Stegmayer knew, among other
things, that Skyline had engaged an investment bank to help with a potential
merger, had engaged in talks with Cavco and others, and had at least one other
offer to be acquired at a price substantially above its then-current share price. After
Cavco bought shares of Skyline, Skyline announced a merger with another
company at a price substantially above its then-current share price. This news
increased Skyline’s stock price by 48%, resulting in gains for Cavco of
approximately $260,000 for the Skyline shares it had purchased based on material,
non-public information.

5. Cavco had an investment policy that, among other things, required
disclosure to its board of directors in advance of stock trading, and an insider
trading policy that prohibited trading while in possession of material non-public

information about the company whose shares were being traded. These policies
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applied to Cavco’s trading in shares of Skyline. However, these controls were
inadequate, and Cavco’s trading in stocks of companies with which it was in
merger talks was not limited to its purchases of Skyline shares. Cavco failed to
devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
reasonable assurance that transactions would be executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization, including its board’s
authorization, corporate investment policy, and securities trading policy. Cavco
also failed to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that access to assets would be permitted
only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization.
Stegmayer was aware of these policies, and he circumvented these inadequate
controls by placing trades on behalf of Cavco in violation of the policies.

6. Daniel Urness (“Urness”), Cavco’s former chief financial officer
(“CFO”) and chief compliance officer, was entrusted by Cavco’s board to review
and approve any exceptions to the investment policy. Instead of fulfilling that duty,
Urness circumvented the investment policy by setting up a system to fund the
trades without informing the board or ensuring the trades complied with Cavco’s
policies. Stegmayer and Urness also knowingly misled Cavco’s auditor with
respect to the Skyline trading and an ongoing regulatory investigation by the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) into those trades.

7. Additionally, after Cavco received an SEC subpoena concerning the
Skyline trading, Stegmayer sold over 11,000 Cavco shares that he personally
owned. He made these trades on the basis of material, non-public information: that
Cavco had engaged in illegal Skyline trading and that FINRA and the SEC were
investigating that trading. After news of the SEC investigation and the Skyline
trading came out, Cavco’s share price decreased by 23%. By selling stock in
advance of this negative news, Stegmayer avoided losses of over $880,000.

8. By this conduct, Cavco violated Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the
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Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, Stegmayer violated Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act, Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, and Rules 10b-5
and 13b2-2 thereunder, and aided and abetted Cavco’s violation of Section
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, and Urness violated Section 13(b)(5) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 13b2-2 thereunder and aided and abetted Cavco’s violation
of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act.

0. The SEC seeks permanent injunctive relief and civil penalties against
each defendant.

THE DEFENDANTS

10. Defendant Cavco Industries, Inc. is a Delaware corporation
headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona, that manufactures homes. Its securities are
registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and trade on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market under the ticker CVCO.

11. Defendant Joseph Stegmayer, age 70, resides in Phoenix, Arizona.
He was the CEO of Cavco from 2003 to 2018, when he was removed as CEO. He
remained at the company as director of strategic initiatives until he retired in
January 2020.

12.  Defendant Daniel Urness, age 52, resides in Mesa, Arizona. He is a
CPA licensed in Arizona and was the CFO of Cavco from 2005 to August 2018
and chief compliance officer from at least 2014 to August 2018, when he left to
take on an operational role at Cavco as part of its succession planning. After
Stegmayer left the CEO role in October 2018, Urness became the acting CEO until
2019, when a permanent CEO was hired and Urness returned to the CFO position.
In 2020, he went on a leave of absence after receiving a Wells notice in this matter
and then subsequently left Cavco in February 2021.

THE ALLEGATIONS

A. Cavco’s Investment and Insider Trading Policies

13.  From at least 2014-2018, Cavco had at least two policies which
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governed securities trading in its accounts, a corporate investment policy and an
insider trading policy.

14.  First, Cavco had a corporate investment policy (“Investment Policy™)
in effect from at least 2014-2018, which required Cavco to maintain surplus cash
in a “low-risk, high credit quality portfolio,” such as money market accounts and
Treasury bonds. It provided that any investment “outside the scope of these
guidelines must be approved by both the CEO and CFO and reported to the Board
of Directors before any investment is made.”

15. The Investment Policy was an internal accounting control within the
meaning of the Exchange Act.

16. The Investment Policy pertained to the safeguarding of corporate
assets and the accuracy of the company’s financial reporting.

17.  The Investment Policy provided management’s general or specific
authorization of transactions.

18.  The Investment Policy limited which transactions were within
management’s general or specific authorization.

19. The Investment Policy limited access to company assets and provided
management’s general or specific authorization for when company assets could be
used for investments.

20. The Investment Policy was designed to ensure surplus cash was spent
in accordance with management expectations.

21.  Cavco designated the Investment Policy as an accounting control.

22.  The Investment Policy was maintained on the accounting
department’s shared computer drive in a folder with the other accounting policies.

23.  The Investment Policy was referenced in Cavco’s Sarbanes-Oxley
(“SOX”) controls documentation.

24. A summary of the Investment Policy was in Cavco’s internal audit

files.
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25.  Cavco’s auditor (““‘Auditor”) considered the Investment Policy an
internal control over financial reporting.

26. Cavco’s Auditor referenced the Investment Policy as a control in its
work papers relating to investments.

27.  Second, Cavco had an insider trading policy (“Insider Trading Policy”
or “Securities Trading Policy”) in place from at least 2004-2018, which provided
that “[n]o employee or director of the Company . . . may buy, sell or otherwise
trade in the securities of the Company while such employee or director is in the
possession of material non-public information concerning the Company. . . . This
policy applies to public securities of other companies where the person learns of
the information through his connection with Cavco.”

28. The Insider Trading Policy was an internal accounting control within
the meaning of the Exchange Act.

29.  The Insider Trading Policy applied to trading in Cavco’s accounts.

30. The Insider Trading Policy pertained to the safeguarding of corporate
assets and the accuracy of the company’s financial reporting.

31.  The Insider Trading Policy provided management’s general or
specific authorization of transactions.

32.  The Insider Trading Policy limited which transactions were within
management’s general or specific authorization.

33.  The Insider Trading Policy limited access to company assets and
provided management’s general or specific authorization for when company assets
could be used for investments.

34.  The Insider Trading policy prohibited a misuse of corporate assets.

35. The Insider Trading policy prohibited a form of misconduct.

36. The Insider Trading Policy was part of Cavco’s Securities Trading
Policy.

37.  The Investment Policy and Insider Trading Policy were adopted by
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the board prior to 2017.
B. Cavco Engaged in Insider Trading in Skyline while in Merger Talks
1. The Merger Discussions and Non-Disclosure Agreement

38.  In August 2017, Cavco began merger discussions with one of its
competitors, Skyline, after signing a non-disclosure agreement (“NDA”).

39. In 2017, shares of Skyline traded publicly under the symbol SKY.

40. On August 8, 2017, a member of Skyline’s board of directors
contacted Stegmayer to indicate Skyline’s willingness to engage in strategic
discussions with Cavco.

41. On August 10, 2017, a member of Skyline’s board of directors sent
Stegmayer a proposed NDA.

42.  On August 11,2017, Stegmayer and Urness communicated about
Skyline’s recent financial results and how that information may impact the tone of
their discussions with Skyline.

43.  Also on August 11, 2017, Urness asked another Skyline employee to
begin a financial analysis of Skyline.

44.  On August 15, 2017, a member of Skyline’s board of directors sent
Stegmayer and another Cavco employee the signed signature page of the NDA and
asked Stegmayer when he was available for a call now that the NDA was in place.

45. The NDA, signed by Stegmayer, included both nondisclosure
provisions and a standstill agreement, which prohibited Cavco from trading in
Skyline’s stock.

46. In August and September of 2017, after signing the NDA, Stegmayer
and Urness prepared an internal analysis of a potential deal, spoke with Skyline’s
investment bank, issued due diligence requests to Skyline, and reviewed non-
public information provided by Skyline.

47. In August and September of 2017, Stegmayer and Urness used a code

name to refer to Skyline due to the confidentiality of the discussions with Skyline.
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48. On August 15, 2017, Urness sent Stegmayer an internal analysis of
Skyline using their public financial data, came up with an $8 per share purchase
price for Skyline, compared his estimates to returns on investment from other
acquisitions, and used the code name “Project Saturn” to refer to the potential
Skyline deal.

49.  On August 15, 2017, Stegmayer had a telephone call with
representatives of Skyline’s investment bank.

50. On August 17, 2017, Stegmayer and Urness met in person with
representatives of Skyline’s investment bank. Skyline’s investment bankers shared
a confidential presentation deck, which used the code name “Project Horizon.”
During the meeting, Stegmayer and Urness gave Skyline’s investment bankers a
list of additional information they wanted to evaluate a potential deal.

51.  On August 22, 2017, Skyline’s investment bank sent Stegmayer and
Urness detailed data about Skyline’s production and costs, including detailed
weekly data on production by each of its manufactured home facilities and details
on corporate costs, such as employee salaries, insurance, equipment, and other
costs.

52. On August 24, 2017, Skyline’s investment bank sent Stegmayer and
Urness additional details about Skyline’s financial situation, including gross
margins by product line and deferred tax assets.

53.  On September 6, 2017, Urness sent Stegmayer “some additional
analysis based on the plant specific financial and product information received to
date,” referring to the Project Horizon code name for a potential Skyline-Cavco
deal. He also provided Stegmeyer with questions to raise during the discussion.

54.  On September 8, 2017, Stegmayer sent Skyline’s investment bank a
request for additional information.

55. On September 12, 2017, Skyline’s investment bank sent Stegmayer an

information package along with a diligence tracker which listed and explained the
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documents provided. Stegmayer forwarded it to Urness.

56. On September 13, 2017, Stegmayer and Urness met with the CEO of
Skyline, the chair of its board of directors, and representatives from Skyline’s
investment bank in Chicago. They did not meet at Skyline’s offices to avoid
speculation about a potential merger. Urness took extensive handwritten notes of
this meeting, which covered many topics including non-public information about
Skyline’s operations, personnel, and financial statements.

57.  On September 13, 2017, Skyline’s investment bank sent Stegmayer
and Urness additional financial information in follow up to the meeting that day,
including a summary of corporate expense allocation and Skyline’s 2018 budget.

58.  On September 14, 2017, Skyline’s investment bank sent Stegmayer
and Urness additional information regarding specific corporate cost line items they
had questions about during the September 13 meeting.

59.  On September 17, 2017, Urness sent Stegmayer purchase scenarios
for Skyline. Urness and Stegmayer then emailed back and forth discussing the
purchase scenarios.

2. Cavco’s Purchases of Skyline Stock While in Merger Discussions

60. In the evening on September 19, 2017, Stegmayer and Urness called
Skyline’s investment bank and expressed interest in acquiring Skyline at a price of
$13.50 per share.

61. As CEO of Cavco, Stegmayer was authorized to place trades on
Cavco’s behalf.

62. At the time of the Cavco’s purchases of shares of Skyline in 2017,
Stegmayer was the only person who had the ability to place trades in Cavco’s
brokerage accounts.

63.  On September 20, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 2,750
Skyline shares at a cost of approximately $31,186, or approximately $11.34 per

share.
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64. On September 21, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 17,700
Skyline shares at a cost of approximately $202,894, or approximately $11.46 per
share.

65. On September 22, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 3,200
Skyline shares at a cost of approximately $36,575, or approximately $11.43 per
share.

66. On September 25, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 5,100
Skyline shares at a cost of approximately $60,206, or approximately $11.81 per
share.

67. Stegmayer did not report these purchases to Cavco’s board.

68.  On September 25, 2017, Cavco’s director of financial reporting
prepared a chart for Stegmayer showing that Cavco’s total position in Skyline was
nearing 5% of outstanding shares.

69. Stegmayer had requested that Cavco’s director of financial reporting
monitor Cavco’s total position in Skyline so as to avoid triggering a duty to
publicly disclose Cavco’s holdings of Skyline, which Stegmayer did not want to
disclose.

70.  Cavco’s director of financial reporting did not report these purchases
to Cavco’s board.

71.  On September 26, 2017, Stegmayer and Urness learned in a call with
Skyline’s investment bank that Cavco’s offer was “significantly behind other
options,” which Stegmayer believed were in the $18-$20 per share range.

72.  After the September 26th call, Cavco and Skyline had no further
contact regarding a potential deal.

73.  On September 29, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 3,780
Skyline shares at a cost of approximately $43,883, or approximately $11.61 per
share.

74.  On October 16, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 1,200 Skyline
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shares at a cost of approximately $12,708, or approximately $10.59 per share.

75.  On October 31, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 1,000 Skyline
shares at a cost of approximately $11,960, or approximately $11.96 per share.

76. In total, Cavco purchased 34,730 shares of Skyline at a cost of just
under $400,000 after signing the NDA with Skyline. Cavco paid around $11 per
share on these trades.

77.  In the course of its merger discussions with Skyline, Cavco, through
its CEO Stegmayer and CFO Urness, received material, non-public information
concerning Skyline from Skyline and Skyline’s investment bankers.

78.  Cavco’s 2017 purchases of Skyline shares were not reported to
Cavco’s board of directors in advance of trading.

79. Cavco’s 2017 purchases of Skyline shares were not reported to
Cavco’s board of directors until October 2018, after the SEC served a subpoena on
Cavco for information related to this trading.

80. On January 5, 2018, Skyline announced it was merging with a
different company that it had been in talks with at the same time as Cavco.

81.  This other company was the “other option” that Skyline’s investment
banker had referenced in its call with Stegmayer and Urness.

82.  Following the announcement, Skyline’s stock price rose from $12.83
to $19 per share. This resulted in an unrealized gain for Cavco of $260,459 for the
shares purchased after signing the NDA with Skyline.

83.  Stegmayer knew or was reckless in not knowing that he was in
possession of material non-public information with respect to Skyline while
causing Cavco to purchase shares of Skyline.

84. As CEO of Cavco, Stegmayer’s scienter with respect to the purchases
he caused Cavco to make are imputed to Cavco.

C. Cavco Engaged in Trading in Shares of Various Acquisition Targets

85.  From March 2017 until October 2018, when the board first learned of
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the SEC’s investigation, Cavco traded in three other publicly traded companies in
the manufactured home industry.

86.  None of this trading was reported to Cavco’s board of directors in
advance of the trading.

1. Cavco’s 2017-18 Trading in Shares of Nobility

87. In March 2017, Cavco was in merger talks with Nobility Homes, Inc.
(“Nobility”).

88. In 2017, shares of Nobility traded publicly under the symbol NOBH.

89.  On March 1, 2017, Stegmayer and the CEO of Nobility emailed about
an upcoming meeting scheduled for March 3, 2017.

90. On March 2, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase 7,700 shares
of Nobility at a cost of $121,560.

91. The March 2, 2017 purchase of Nobility shares was the first time
Cavco had purchased Nobility shares.

92.  The March 2, 2017 purchase of Nobility shares was the first time
Stegmayer had caused Cavco to purchase shares in any company since 2015.

93. On March 2, 2017, Stegmayer forwarded the trade information for the
Nobility trades to Urness and asked him to arrange to wire $250,000 to Cavco’s
brokerage account to cover the trades Cavco had already made and to provide “for
additional trades near term.” Stegmayer said that he planned to accumulate
“perhaps $1.0 million” worth of Nobility stock.

94.  On Friday, March 3, 2017, Stegmayer met in person with the CEO of
Nobility to discuss a potential merger or other corporate transaction.

95.  Also on March 3, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase another
6,000 shares of Nobility at a cost of $94,800.

96. Also on March 3, 2017, Urness caused Cavco to wire $300,000 to
Cavco’s broker to cover Cavco’s trading in Nobility.

97.  The following business day, Monday, March 6, 2017, Stegmayer sent
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an analysis of Nobility to Urness and another Cavco employee, using the code
word “Monarch” to refer to Nobility.

98. In this same email, Stegmayer provided directions for Cavco’s trading
in Nobility shares.

99. On March 7, 2017, a Cavco employee emailed Urness about the
Nobility share purchases, indicating that Cavco’s Auditor had asked about “the
approval of purchase of shares.” The Cavco employee referenced the Investment
Policy and indicated that the Nobility investment would need to be disclosed to
Cavco’s board of directors.

100. Also on March 7, 2017, Urness replied to the Cavco employee and
said “good point on board approval” and referred to how Cavco had sought
approval from its board of directors for its trading in Skyline in 2014. As for the
Nobility trading, Urness said “[w]e will see but as this increases we can determine
the right time for inclusion at a board meeting.”

101. Urness never brought the Nobility trading to the board’s attention or
sought its authorization for the trading.

102. Also on March 7, 2017, Urness asked another Cavco employee to set
up a process for initiating and approving wires to fund Cavco’s trading. That
employee proposed a process for Urness’s review, noting that she “took that
[Urness] may not want to be in the middle of any of this.”

103. The process ultimately approved by Urness did not include any role
for Urness to review or approve the trades or the wires funding the trades. The
process approved by Urness also did not include any procedure to ensure that the
trades complied with Cavco’s Investment Policy or its Insider Trading Policy.
Indeed, there were no procedures at all to review or approve the trades themselves.

104. On March 9, 2017, a Cavco employee wired $300,000 to Cavco’s
brokers for additional Nobility share purchases.

105. This wire and the trades it funded were done without notification to or
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approval of Cavco’s board of directors.

106. The wire itself and the trades it funded were also done without
notification to or approval from Urness. Under the funding system Urness had put
in place and approved, he was not alerted to nor required to approve trades placed
by Stegmayer in the company’s accounts, despite the Investment Policy’s
requirement that he review and approve any exceptions to the Investment Policy
and that the board be informed in advance of such exceptions.

107. Also on March 9, 2017, Stegmayer emailed with the CEO of Nobility
to schedule a phone call.

108. Also on March 9, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase 14,700
Nobility shares at a cost of approximately $232,260, or approximately $15.80 per
share.

109. From approximately March-October 2017, Cavco and Nobility
continued to engage in merger talks, and Stegmayer continued to cause Cavco to
purchase shares of Nobility.

110. During the 2017 merger negotiations between Cavco and Nobility,
Cavco, through its CEO, Stegmayer, received material non-public information
from Nobility.

111. During the 2017 merger negotiations between Cavco and Nobility,
Cavco personnel used a code name for the potential deal with Nobility.

112. During the 2017 merger negotiations between Cavco and Nobility,
Cavco, at Stegmayer’s direction, purchased a total of 63,363 shares of Nobility.
113. The merger between Cavco and Nobility did not materialize.

114. Cavco sold off part of its Nobility holdings in early 2018 before
making some purchases of additional Nobility shares in mid-2018.

115. Cavco’s board of directors was not notified of Cavco’s 2017-18

trading in shares of Nobility in advance of the trading.
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2. Cavco’s 2017-18 Trading in Shares of Deer Valley

116. In early December 2017, Stegmayer communicated with a principal at
Deer Valley Homebuilders, Inc. (“Deer Valley”), a manufactured home builder,
about a possible corporate transaction between the two companies.

117. In 2017 and 2018, shares of Deer Valley traded publicly under the
symbol DVLY.

118. On December 19, 2017, Stegmayer met in person with the Deer
Valley principal.

119. On December 20, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase 44,676
shares of Deer Valley at a cost of approximately $31,023. This was Cavco’s first
purchase of Deer Valley stock.

120. Also on December 20, 2017, Stegmayer sent Deer Valley an email
referencing the meeting the day before and sending a list of additional information
Cavco would like to receive in connection with its consideration of a potential
corporate transaction with Deer Valley.

121. On December 26, 27, and 28, 2017, Stegmayer caused Cavco to
purchase a total of 4,485 shares of Deer Valley.

122. On January 2, 2018, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy another 8,000
Deer Valley shares.

123. On January 3, 2018, Stegmayer received a communication from Deer
Valley indicating that they would begin sending materials in response to Cavco’s
request for more information. Also on January 3, 2018, Stegmayer caused Cavco to
buy another 4,900 Deer Valley shares.

124. On January 4, 2018, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy 1,200 Deer
Valley shares.

125. On January 5, 2018, Deer Valley executives suggested entering into a
NDA with Cavco before sending the information and documents that Cavco had

requested. On January 5, 2018, Stegmayer caused Cavco to buy another 6,100
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Deer Valley shares.

126. On January 6, 2018, Stegmayer sent Deer Valley a NDA that he had
signed on behalf of Cavco. On January 8, 2018, Deer Valley executives sent
Stegmayer a NDA that had also been signed on behalf of Deer Valley. Stegmayer
forwarded it to Urness, who forwarded it to others at Cavco with the note that
Cavco was considering an acquisition of Deer Valley and that this was
confidential.

127. On January 6, 2018, Deer Valley sent Stegmayer confidential
financial information, which they labeled “Due Diligence materials.” This included
financial information from 2016-2017 that had not yet been audited or publicly
disclosed.

128. On January 8, 2018, Stegmayer forwarded the Deer Valley non-public
financial information to Urness.

129. On January 8, 2018, Urness shared the non-public Deer Valley
information with two other employees of Cavco, and when he did so he asked them
to review the information for a possible acquisition and that it was “highly
confidential of course.” Urness also tagged the email with a “Company
Confidential” tag.

130. On January 10, 16, 19, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 29, 30, and 31, 2018,
Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase a total of 115,500 shares of Deer Valley.

131. On January 30, 2018, a Deer Valley executive sent Stegmayer an
internal analysis of how Deer Valley’s financials were impacted by certain external
events. Stegmayer forwarded this to Urness who in turn shared it with another
Cavco executive.

132. On February 1, 2,5,6,7,8,9, 12, 15, 16, 20, 21, 23, 26, and 28, 2018,
Stegmayer caused Cavco to purchase a total of 280,057 shares of Deer Valley.

133. On February 8, 2018, Urness sent a Deer Valley executive a request

for additional information about Deer Valley. He copied Stegmayer on the email.
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134. On February 13 and 14, 2018, a Deer Valley executive responded to
Urness and Stegmayer with additional information about Deer Valley.

135. On February 14, 2018, Urness sent Deer Valley another request for
information, which Deer Valley responded to on February 16, 2018.

136. On February 22, 2018, Stegmayer, Urness, and another Cavco
employee attended an in-person due diligence meeting and factory tour with Deer
Valley executives and employees.

137. On February 22 and 23, 2018, a Deer Valley executive sent Cavco
additional information about Deer Valley.

138. On February 24, 2018, Stegmayer, Urness, and a Cavco employee
emailed about Cavco’s interest in acquiring Deer Valley if they could reach
agreement on price. They used a code word, “Project Tide” to refer to the potential
acquisition of Deer Valley.

139. From March-July 2018, Cavco continued to consider a potential
acquisition of Deer Valley.

140. Stegmayer caused Cavco to make additional purchases of Deer Valley
shares from March-June 2018 totaling 164,378 shares.

141. Throughout its discussion with Deer Valley, from December 2017
through June 2018, Cavco was analyzing the Deer Valley due diligence materials,
preparing a financial analysis and summary term sheet for the potential acquisition,
and referring to the potential merger as “Project Tide” to keep it confidential.

142. Cavco ultimately purchased a total of 664,457 shares of Deer Valley
from December 2017 to June 2018.

143. The merger between Cavco and Deer Valley did not materialize.

144. Cavco’s 2017-18 trading in shares of Deer Valley was not reported to
Cavco’s board of directors in advance of trading.

3. Cavco’s 2017-18 Trading in Shares of UMH
145. UMH Properties (“UMH”) was Cavco’s customer.
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146. In 2017 and 2018, shares of UMH traded publicly under the symbol
UMH.

147. 1Inearly 2017, Cavco and UMH discussed a potential joint venture.

148. From December 2017 through March 2018, Stegmayer caused Cavco
to purchase over 34,000 shares of UMH.

149. The joint venture between Cavco and UMH never materialized.

150. Cavco’s 2017 trading in shares of UMH was not reported to Cavco’s
board of directors in advance of trading.

D. Stegmayer and Urness Circumvented and Failed to Implement Cavco’s

Investment Policy and Insider Trading Policy

1. Stegmayer and Urness Knew About the Policies

151. At least since 2014, Stegmayer and Urness knew about Cavco’s
Investment Policy.

152. In 2014, Urness raised the Investment Policy and its requirement of
board notification to Stegmayer with respect to securities trading Stegmayer
wanted Cavco to pursue.

153. At that time, unlike in 2017, Stegmayer and Urness sought and
received authorization from Cavco’s board of directors to trade in connection with
a takeover attempt that ultimately failed.

154. Cavco’s Insider Trading Policy was adopted by its board on
December 12, 2003. Stegmayer was on the board when it was adopted.

155. In 2007, Cavco issued a guide to compliance with securities laws that
referenced insider trading restrictions under the securities laws and included as an
attachment Cavco’s Insider Trading Policy.

156. Stegmayer proposed amendments to the Insider Trading Policy in
October 2017 that the board considered and adopted. Urness attended the board
meeting where the amendments were considered and adopted. These amendments

added provisions for establishing trading blackout periods for events other than

COMPLAINT 18



O 0 3 O W B W NN =

N NN N N N N N N e e e e e e e
0O I N »n A W NN = O VO 0O N O BB~ WD = O

Case 2:21-cv-01507-SRB Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 19 of 38

earnings releases. The October 2017 amendments did not alter the part of the
policy that prohibited trading while in possession of material non-public
information.

157. Stegmayer was aware of Cavco’s Insider Trading Policy prior to 2017
and throughout the period of Cavco’s trading in Skyline, Nobility, Deer Valley,
and UMH from March 2017 to October 2018 (collectively, the “2017-18
Trading”).

158. Urness was aware of Cavco’s Insider Trading Policy prior to 2017 and
throughout the period of the 2017-18 Trading.

2. The 2017-18 Trading Violated Cavco’s Investment Policy and
Insider Trading Policies

159. The 2017-18 Trading was a use of surplus cash in something other
than a low-risk, high credit quality portfolio, such as money market accounts and
Treasury bonds.

160. The 2017-18 Trading was not disclosed to Cavco’s board of directors
in advance of the trading.

161. The 2017-18 Trading was in violation of Cavco’s Investment Policy.

162. The 2017-18 Trading in shares of Skyline, Nobility, and Deer Valley
was done while Cavco was in possession of material non-public information
concerning those companies, and that information was obtained by Cavco
personnel as a result of their connection with Cavco.

163. The 2017-18 Trading in Skyline, Nobility, and Deer Valley was in
violation of Cavco’s Insider Trading Policy.

3. Stegmayer Caused the 2017-18 Trading, and Urness Abdicated His
Role in Preventing Stegmayer’s Trading

164. Despite his knowledge of Cavco’s Investment Policy and Insider

Trading Policy, Stegmayer circumvented and failed to implement them, which was

possible because Cavco’s internal accounting controls were insufficient to provide
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reasonable assurance that transactions were executed in accordance with, and
access to assets was permitted only in accordance with, management’s specific or
general authorization.

165. Stegmayer directly caused the 2017-18 Trading without consultation
with or disclosure to Cavco’s board of directors.

166. Urness set up a system to fund the 2017-18 Trading without devising
procedures to ensure that the trading complied with the Investment Policy or the
Insider Trading Policy.

167. When Stegmayer started buying Nobility shares in March 2017, he
circulated a Nobility purchase analysis to Urness and Cavco’s director of financial
reporting.

168. Cavco’s purchase of shares of Nobility was in circumvention of
Cavco’s Investment Policy.

169. In March 2017, Stegmayer told Urness that he planned to purchase
around $1 million of Nobility shares and asked Urness to wire funds to cover the
trades, which Urness did without question.

170. Later in March 2017, Urness set up a system for Cavco to routinely
make wire transfers to Cavco’s brokers to fund trades placed by Stegmayer and to
have those wires approved within the accounting department.

171. Urness did not, however, put in place any process for approving the
trades or confirming they complied with Cavco’s Investment Policy and Insider
Trading Policy.

172. This system set up by Urness violated, circumvented, enabled, and
substantially assisted Cavco’s violation of the Investment Policy.

173. Upon learning of the Nobility trading, Cavco’s director of financial
reporting immediately alerted Urness that the Nobility trading appeared to be
outside of Cavco’s Investment Policy.

174. When alerted to the fact that the Nobility trading was outside of
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Cavco’s Investment Policy, Urness agreed and said he would consider the right
timing for bringing it to Cavco’s board of directors.

175. Urness did not bring the Nobility trading to the attention of Cavco’s
board of directors.

176. Urness’s failure to bring the Nobility trading to the attention of
Cavco’s board of directors was contrary to the Investment Policy.

177. All of the ensuing 2017-18 Trading, including the purchases of shares
of Deer Valley, UMH, and Skyline, followed the same process: Stegmayer placed
the trades directly with Cavco’s brokers without any prior disclosure to or approval
by Cavco’s board of directors. Using the system set up by Urness, the purchases
were funded either by existing funds in the brokerage accounts or by wire transfers
approved by Cavco’s accounting department without any checks on whether the
trades complied with Cavco’s policies, including, but not limited to, whether the
trades had been disclose to Cavco’s board of directors, whether Cavco had material
non-public information about the companies it was trading in, or whether Cavco
had signed an NDA or standstill with the companies it was trading in.

178. Urness did not bring any of the 2017-18 Trading to the attention of
Cavco’s board of directors.

179. Urness’ failure to bring any of the 2017-18 Trading to the attention of
Cavco’s board of directors was contrary to the Investment Policy.

180. Urness received quarterly investment reports showing Cavco’s
investments in Skyline, Nobility, Deer Valley, and UMH.

181. On January 24, 2018, Urness received a quarterly investment report
showing that as of December 30, 2017, Cavco held 367,392 shares of Skyline,
73,363 shares of Nobility, 49,161 shares of Deer Valley, and 1,500 shares of
UMH.

182. On March 14, 2018, Urness received a quarterly investment report
showing that as of March 14, 2018, Cavco held 358,402 shares of Skyline, 65,328
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shares of Nobility, 481,846 shares of Deer Valley, and 34,400 shares of UMH.
E. Cavco’s Deficient Internal Accounting Controls Allowed Stegmayer and

Urness to Violate the Investment and Insider Trading Policies

183. Despite Cavco’s Investment Policy, it lacked controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurances that transactions were executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization or that access to assets was
permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization.

184. Cavco lacked controls specifying how investments outside the
Investment Policy would be identified and reported to Cavco’s board of directors.

185. Cavco lacked controls specifying how trades would be checked to
ensure they complied with the Investment Policy.

186. Cavco lacked controls specifying what steps, such as segregating of
duties, would be taken to prevent unauthorized transactions or use of company
funds that violated the Investment Policy.

187. As aresult of these weaknesses, Cavco’s board of directors was never
informed about the 2017-18 Trading until after the company received an SEC
subpoena.

188. Cavco’s board of directors never approved the 2017-18 Trading.

189. Despite inquiries, Cavco’s Auditor was also not informed that the
2017-18 Trading was not authorized by Cavco’s board of directors when it was
conducting audit work pertaining to the periods in which the 2017-18 Trading
occured.

190. Cavco provided a quarterly memo to its Auditor that asserted that it
held securities investments managed by its corporate office, and that the trading
decisions for these investments “are made by Joe Stegmayer, under authorization
from the Board.”

191. Cavco’s assertions to its Auditor that investments “are made by Joe

Stegmayer, under authorization from the Board” were untrue.
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192. 1If Cavco’s Auditor had been informed that the 2017-18 Trading was
not authorized by Cavco’s board of directors, it would have taken steps to escalate
the issue and evaluate whether there was an internal control deficiency and
whether it needed to be reported to Cavco’s board of directors.

193. Cavco had no controls to review trades in peer companies and to
check if Cavco had material non-public information about those companies before
trading.

194. As aresult of such lack of controls, Cavco’s policies were not
reasonably designed to provide sufficient assurances that transactions were
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization or
that access to assets was permitted only in accordance with management’s general
or specific authorization.

195. Thus, when Stegmayer started placing trades in Nobility in March
2017, there was no inquiry by Cavco into whether Cavco had material non-public
information about Nobility.

196. Even when Cavco entered into non-disclosure agreements, there was
no process for halting trading in companies covered by such agreements.

197. Cavco had no process for informing relevant personnel of the entry of
NDAs.

198. Thus, despite Cavco’s NDAs with Skyline and Deer Valley, Cavco
took no steps to halt Cavco’s trading in either issuer.

F.  The FINRA Inquiry

199. Following the announcement of the Skyline merger in January 2018,
FINRA opened an investigation into trading in Skyline that occurred in advance of
the merger announcement.

200. As part of the investigation, FINRA sent a request for information to
Cavco on February 9, 2018.

201. The FINRA request was titled “Review of Trading in Skyline
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Corporation (SKY)” and sought, among other things, information about Cavco’s
contacts with Skyline, a detailed chronology of the merger talks, lists of employees
with knowledge of those talks, and the procedures Cavco used to maintain the
confidentiality of the talks.

202. On February 16, 2018, Cavco’s general counsel forwarded the FINRA
request and the draft response to Stegmayer, Urness, and another Cavco employee
and asked them to look it over and provide any comments.

203. The draft response to FINRA stated that “Cavco did not make an offer
for Sky at any time and has no information to report regarding the corporate
disclosure.”

204. The draft response to FINRA went on to say that “[i]n August 2017,
Cavco was contacted by SKY, entered into a Mutual Confidentiality Agreement,
and engaged in some brief discussions with SKY regarding a potential transaction.
However, Cavco did not make an offer for SKY.”

205. Stegmayer reviewed the FINRA request and the draft response.

206. Stegmayer stated that the draft FINRA response “seems correct to my
recollection. They mention due diligence. We really never did any formal DD.
Their banker provided a limited amount of statistics but it went no further.”

207. Urness reviewed the FINRA request and the draft response.

208. Urness did not provide any comments on or corrections of the draft
FINRA response.

209. On February 20, 2018, Cavco sent FINRA a response stating that
“Cavco did not make an offer for Sky at any time and has not information to report
regarding the corporate disclosure.”

210. The February 20, 2018 Cavco response to FINRA went on to say that
“[i]n August 2017, Cavco was contacted by SKY, entered into a Mutual
Confidentiality Agreement, and engaged in some brief discussions with SKY

regarding a potential transaction. However, Cavco did not make an offer for SKY.”
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211. The February 20, 2018 Cavco response to FINRA did not disclose that
Cavco had traded in Skyline shares, and it did not provide a detailed chronology or
any of the relevant supporting documents that FINRA had requested.

212. The February 20, 2018 Cavco response to FINRA tried to downplay
Cavco’s discussions with Skyline, and misleadingly said that Cavco had not made
an “offer” for Skyline while failing to disclose that Stegmayer communicated
Cavco’s interest in acquiring Skyline at $13.50 per share to Skyline’s investment
banker.

G. Stegmayer and Urness Misled Cavco’s Auditor

213. Stegmayer and Urness provided misleading information to Cavco’s
Auditor and, as a result, the Auditor did not become aware of the insider trading,
control violations, or the FINRA investigation, until the fall of 2018, after the SEC
had subpoenaed Cavco.

214. The Auditor did not know that Cavco may have engaged in the 2017-
18 Trading on the basis of material non-public information about the companies in
which it was trading.

215. When the Auditor directly asked Stegmayer and Urness about
potential fraud at the company, which would include insider trading, neither
disclosed the trading in Skyline.

216. On or about April 4, 2018, the Auditor interviewed Stegmayer about
fraud, alleged fraud, or suspected fraud affecting the company. Stegmayer did not
disclose the trading in Skyline.

217. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Stegmayer was aware of
the trading in Skyline, as he had directed it.

218. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Stegmayer was aware that
he had directed trading in Skyline while in possession of material non-public
information concerning Skyline and Cavco’s merger talks with Skyline.

219. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Stegmayer was also aware
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of FINRA’s investigation into trading in Skyline.

220. Stegmayer knowingly misled the Auditor by stating that he had
disclosed all known or suspected fraud while not disclosing the Skyline trading.

221. Also on or about April 4, 2018, the Auditor interviewed Urness about
fraud, alleged fraud, or suspected fraud affecting the company. Urness did not
disclose the trading in Skyline.

222. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Urness was aware of
Cavco’s trading in Skyline, as he received quarterly investment reports reflecting
the trading.

223. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Urness was also aware of
Cavco’s possession of material non-public information concerning Skyline, as
Urness personally participated in the Skyline merger discussions.

224. At the time of the April 4, 2018, interview, Urness was also aware of
FINRA'’s investigation into trading in Skyline.

225. Urness knowingly lied to the Auditor by stating that he had disclosed
all known or suspected fraud while not disclosing the Skyline insider trading.

226. On or about May 24, 2018, and again on May 30, 2018, the Auditor
interviewed Stegmayer about, among other things, the entity’s compliance with
laws and regulations.

227. In the interviews with the Auditor on or about May 24, 2018, and May
30, 2018, Stegmayer knowingly and falsely represented to the Auditor that Cavco
was in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and did not disclose the
Skyline insider trading.

228. On or about May 23, 2018, and again on May 30, 2018, the Auditor
interviewed Urness about, among other things, the entity’s compliance with laws
and regulations.

229. In the interviews with the Auditor on or about May 23, 2018, and May
30, 2018, Urness knowingly and falsely represented to the Auditor that Cavco was
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in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and did not disclose the
Skyline insider trading.

230. In addition, both Stegmayer and Urness signed a management
representation letter to the Auditor dated May 30, 2018, in which they both
affirmatively represented that “[w]e have disclosed to you all information that we
are aware of regarding fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company received in
communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short
sellers, or others.”

231. Stegmayer knowingly did not disclose the Skyline insider trading in
the management representation letter he signed dated May 30, 2018.

232. Urness knowingly did not disclose the Skyline insider trading in the
management representation letter he signed dated May 30, 2018.

233. In addition, in the May 30, 2018, management representation letter,
Stegmayer and Urness knowingly made the false representation that “[t]here are no
[v]iolations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a
loss contingency.” They knowingly did not disclose the Skyline insider trading.

234. Stegmayer and Urness also failed to disclose the FINRA letter to the
Auditor, even when the Auditor asked to inspect correspondence with regulatory
authorities.

235. The Auditor’s inquiries for the Financial Year 2018 audit took place
in the spring of 2018, after Cavco had received a request for information from
FINRA as part of FINRA’s investigation into Skyline trading.

236. On or prior to May 22, 2018, the Auditor asked Stegmayer and Urness
about any communications or correspondence with licensing or regulatory
authorities.

237. FINRA is a regulatory authority that had communicated or

corresponded with Cavco.
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238. At the time on or prior to May 22, 2018, that the Auditor asked
Stegmayer and Urness about any communications or correspondence with
licensing or regulatory authorities, Stegmayer knew that Cavco had
communications and correspondence with FINRA.

239. At the time on or prior to May 22, 2018, that the Auditor asked
Stegmayer and Urness about any communications or correspondence with
licensing or regulatory authorities, Urness knew that Cavco had communications
and correspondence with FINRA.

240. Both Stegmayer and Urness received FINRA’s communication to
Cavco and Cavco’s response to FINRA.

241. In response to the inquiry on or prior to May 22, 2018, about any
communications or correspondence with licensing or regulatory authorities,
Stegmayer and Urness knowingly and falsely told the Auditor that there weren’t
any communications or correspondence with regulatory authorities.

242. In addition, both Stegmayer and Urness signed a management
representation letter to the Auditor dated May 30, 2018, in which they both
affirmatively represented that “[t]here have been no communications from
regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencies in, financial
reporting practices.”

243. At the time Stegmayer signed the management representation letter to
the Auditor dated May 30, 2018, he knew that Cavco had communications and
correspondence with FINRA regarding potential insider trading in Skyline.

244. At the time Urness signed the management representation letter to the
Auditor dated May 30, 2018, he knew that Cavco had communications and
correspondence with FINRA regarding potential insider trading in Skyline.

245. The FINRA letter should have been disclosed because the trading in
Skyline was reported as part of Cavco’s financial statements, thus making the

FINRA inquiry relevant to Cavco’s financial reporting practices, and Stegmayer
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and Urness’ statements to the Auditor regarding regulatory communications were
false.

246. Urness was specifically aware that FINRA inquiries should be
disclosed to Cavco’s Auditor, as he had previously done so.

247. Cavco had previously received a letter from FINRA inquiring as to
trading in Skyline in 2014.

248. 1In 2014, Urness caused the 2014 FINRA letter to be disclosed to
Cavco’s Auditor.
H. Stegmayer Engaged in Insider Trading in Cavco Stock

249. Stegmayer also engaged in insider trading in the shares of Cavco
stock that he personally owned.

250. 1In 2018, shares of Cavco traded publicly under the symbol CVCO.

251. As of August 20, 2018, Stegmayer personally owned approximately
529,141 shares of Cavco.

252. The SEC sent a subpoena for documents concerning trading in
Skyline to Cavco’s general counsel by email on August 20, 2018.

253. Stegmayer learned about the subpoena that afternoon.

254. The next morning, on August 21, Stegmayer called his personal
broker and placed an order to sell 10,000 shares of his Cavco stock.

255. That same day, Cavco’s former General Counsel sent an email to
Stegmayer, Urness, and another Cavco employee about the subpoena.

256. Stegmayer’s broker was unable to sell all 10,000 shares on August 21,
so Stegmayer instructed him to keep selling the next day.

257. When the broker reported on his progress on August 22, Stegmayer
told him to lower the limit price at which he would sell.

258. In total, over the two days following service of the subpoena,
Stegmayer sold 11,740 shares of Cavco at an average price of more than $240 per

share.
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259. Stegmayer placed these trades on the basis of material, non-public
information about the Skyline insider trading he had caused Cavco to engage in,
the FINRA investigation into Skyline trading, and the SEC investigation into that
trading.

260. When news of the SEC subpoena and Cavco’s trading became public
more than two months later, Cavco’s share price dropped to $165.20 per share.

261. By selling prior to the news, Stegmayer avoided losses of
approximately $883,374.

I. Cavco’s Board of Directors Learned of the 2017-18 Trading

262. Cavco’s board of directors only learned of the 2017-18 Trading in
October 2018, upon learning of the SEC subpoena.

263. The next month, Stegmayer stepped down as CEO but remained at the
company as director of strategic initiatives before retiring effective January 31,
2020.

264. Urness remained CFO until February 2021.

FIRST CLLAIM FOR RELIEF

Fraud in the Connection with the Purchase and Sale of Securities
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
(against Defendants Cavco and Stegmayer)

265. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1

through 264 above.

266. By engaging in the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Cavco and Stegmayer, directly and indirectly, bought and sold securities in Skyline
between on or about September 20, 2017 and on or about October 31, 2017, while
in possession of, and on the basis of, Skyline’s material, non-public information,
including (1) details about Skyline’s internal financial information, personnel, and
factory operations, (2) that Skyline was actively pursuing a potential merger or

other business combination, (3) that Skyline had retained an investment banker to
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advise it on a potential merger and was in talks with more than one potential
partner, and (4) that Skyline had other options it was pursuing at a price
significantly above the price its stock was trading at, while subject to a non-
disclosure agreement with Skyline. Defendants Cavco and Stegmayer knew, or
were reckless in not knowing, that this trading was in breach of the duty of
confidence established by both the NDA and the parties’ relationship and course of
conduct.

267. By engaging in the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Cavco and Stegmayer, directly or indirectly, in connection with the purchase or
sale of a security, by the use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce,
of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange: (a) employed
devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of a material
fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons.

268. By engaging in the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Cavco and Stegmayer violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to
violate, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rules 10b-5(a),
10b-5(b), and 10b-5(c) thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), 240.10b-5(b) &
240.10b-5(c).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Failure to Devise and Maintain Sufficient Internal Accounting Controls in
Violation of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act
(against Defendant Cavco)
269. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 264 above.
270. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Cavco failed
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to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurance that its corporate securities trading would be
executed in accordance with Cavco’s board of directors’s authorization, its
Corporate Investment Policy, and its Insider Trading Policy.

271. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Cavco failed
to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurances that, among other things, transactions are executed
in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization and that access
to assets i1s permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization.

272. By reason of the conduct described above, Defendant Cavco violated,
and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 13(b)(2)(B) of
the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(B).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Aiding and Abetting Cavco’s Failure to Devise and Maintain Sufficient

Internal Accounting Controls in Violation of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the
Exchange Act
(against Defendants Stegmayer and Urness)

273. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 264 above.

274. Defendant Cavco violated Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act,
15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(B).

275. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Stegmayer
knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance for Cavco’s violations by
placing trades in Cavco’s account without informing Cavco’s board of directors
and while he was in non-public merger discussions with Skyline, Nobility, and
Deer Valley.

276. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Urness
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knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance for Cavco’s violations by
setting up a wire approval control that funded all trades placed by Stegmayer
regardless of whether they had been disclosed to, were approved by, or were
consistent with the instructions of Cavco’s board of directors.

277. By engaging in the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Stegmayer and Urness knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance in
Cavco’s failure to devise and maintain sufficient internal accounting controls.

278. By reason of the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Stegmayer and Urness aided and abetted Defendant Cavco’s violation of, and
unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(B), pursuant to Section 20(e) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Circumventing and Failing to Implement Internal Accounting Controls in
Violation of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act
(against Defendants Stegmayer and Urness)

279. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 264 above.

280. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Stegmayer
knowingly circumvented and failed to implement internal accounting controls
regarding securities trading by causing Cavco to trade in Skyline and the other
issuers in violation of the Investment Policy and Insider Trading Policy.

281. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Urness
knowingly circumvented and failed to implement internal accounting controls
regarding securities trading by setting up a funding process to bypass Cavco’s
board of directors, the Investment Policy, and his duty under the Investment Policy
to review and approve exceptions to the policy.

282. By reason of the conduct described above, each of Defendants
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Stegmayer and Urness violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to
violate, of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5).
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Misleading the Auditor in Violation of Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act

(against Defendants Stegmayer and Urness)

283. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 264 above.

284. Defendants Stegmayer and Urness are officers of Cavco, an issuer.

285. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Stegmayer
knowingly and falsely represented that he was not aware of any fraud or suspected
fraud affecting Cavco, knowingly and falsely represented that Cavco was in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, knowingly failed to disclose
the insider trading he had directed at the company, and knowingly and falsely
represented that Cavco had not received any regulatory inquiries when he met with
the Auditor in April and May 2018 and then signed a management representation
letter to them in May 2018.

286. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Urness
knowingly and falsely represented that he was not aware of any fraud or suspected
fraud affecting Cavco, knowingly and falsely represented that Cavco was in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, knowingly failed to disclose
the insider trading in Skyline, and knowingly and falsely represented that Cavco
had not received any regulatory inquiries when he met with the Auditor in April
and May 2018 and then signed a management representation letter to them in May
2018.

287. By engaging in the conduct described above, each of Defendants
Stegmayer and Urness directly or indirectly made or caused to be made a
materially false or misleading statement to an accountant, or omitted to state, or

caused another person to omit to state, a material fact necessary in order to make
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statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading, to an accountant in connection with financial-statement
audits, reviews, or examinations or the preparation or filing of any document or
report required to be filed with the SEC.

288. By reason of the conduct described above, Defendants Stegmayer and
Urness violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Rule
13b2-2 under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2.

SIXTH CLLAIM FOR RELIEF

Fraud in the Connection with the Purchase and Sale of Securities In Violation
of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder
(against Defendant Stegmayer)

289. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 264 above.

290. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Stegmayer,
directly and indirectly, sold securities in Cavco between on or about August 21,
2018 and on or about August 22, 2018, while in possession of, and on the basis of,
material, non-public information about Cavco, including (1) Cavco’s receipt of an
SEC subpoena, (2) Cavco’s repeated illegal trading that was also contrary to
Cavco policy, and (3) that Cavco had received a FINRA inquiry and provided a
misleading response. Defendant Stegmayer knew, or was reckless in not knowing,
that this trading was in breach of his duty as CEO of Cavco to Cavco shareholders.

291. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Stegmayer,
directly or indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, by the
use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the
facilities of a national securities exchange: (a) employed devices, schemes, or
artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to

state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of
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the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in
acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud
or deceit upon other persons.

292. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Stegmayer
violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), Rules 10b-5(a), 10b-5(b), and 10b-5(c)
thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), 240.10b-5(b) & 240.10b-5(c), and Section
17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court:

L.

Issue findings of fact and conclusions of law that Defendants committed the
alleged violations.
IL.
Issue judgments, in forms consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, permanently enjoining Defendant Cavco, and its officers, agents,
servants, employees and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or
participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of the judgment by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from violating Sections 10(b) and
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78m(b)(2)(B)], and Rule
10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].
I11.
Issue judgments, in forms consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, permanently enjoining Defendant Stegmayer, and his officers,
agents, servants, employees and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or
participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of the judgment by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from violating Sections 10(b),

13(b)(2)(B), and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(b)(2)(B),
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and 78m(b)(5)], and Rules 10b-5 and 13b2-2 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5
and 240.13b2-2]; and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].
IV.

Issue judgments, in forms consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, permanently enjoining Defendant Urness, and his officers, agents,
servants, employees and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or
participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of the judgment by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from violating Sections
13(b)(2)(B) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(B) and
78m(b)(5)], and Rule 13b2-2 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2].

V.

Issues judgment, in forms consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, permanently prohibiting Stegmayer from acting as an officer or
director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12
of the Exchange Act or that is required to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of
the Exchange Act.

VI.

Order Defendants Cavco, Stegmayer, and Urness to pay civil penalties under
Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)], and order
Defendants Cavco and Stegmayer to pay civil penalties under Section 21A of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u-1].

I
I
I
I
1
I
1
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VIIL
Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity
and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the
terms of all orders and decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable
application or motion for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.
VIII.
Grant such other and further relief as this Court may determine to be just and

necessary.

Dated: September 2, 2021

/s/ Daniel O. Blau

Daniel O. Blau

Jasmine M. Starr

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Securities and Exchange Commission
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